
LIQUOR AND BEER MEETING 
LOCAL LICENSING AUTHORITY 

CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION, COLORADO 
MUNICIPAL HEARING ROOM, CITY HALL, 250 NORTH 5TH STREET 

 
MINUTES 

 
WEDNESDAY, APRIL 17, 2013, 2:00 P.M.  

 
 

HEARING OFFICER MICHAEL GRATTAN 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER  
 

The meeting convened at 2:00 p.m.  Those present were Hearing Officer Mike 
Grattan, City Attorney John Shaver, and Deputy City Clerk Debbie Kemp. 
 

II. APPLICATIONS TO RENEW LIQUOR AND BEER LICENSES 
 

1. Frame Depot, Inc. dba Frame Depot, 529 Bogart Lane, Grand Junction, CO 
81505, Art Gallery Permit 

 
  Claudine Bogart, President of Frame Depot, Inc. was present. 
 

The application for renewal for Frame Depot, Inc. dba Frame Depot was found 
to be in order and approved. 

 
2. Last Chance Liquors, LLC dba Last Chance Liquors, 1203 Pitkin Avenue, 

Grand Junction, CO 81501, Retail Liquor Store 
 
  Roger Ward, owner of Last Chance Liquors, was present. 
 

The application for renewal for Last Chance Liquors, LLC dba Last Chance 
Liquors was found to be in order and approved. 

 
3. Fantasy, LLC dba Fantasy, 2258 Colex Drive, Grand Junction, CO 81505, 

Tavern 
 
 No one was present representing the applicant. 
 
 Hearing Officer Grattan disclosed that he formed the LLC for the applicant.  City 

Attorney Shaver said that, because Hearing Officer Grattan is not actively 
representing the applicant, he does not find any conflict of interest. 

  
 Ms. Kemp advised that the Health Department has not had a chance to conduct 

an inspection.  Heather Nara, Environmental Health Specialist with Mesa 
County Health Department, said that they will be conducting an inspection 
within one week. 

 



 The application for renewal for Fantasy, LLC dba Fantasy was found to be in 
order and approved subject to a satisfactory report from the Health Department 
within 30 days or less. 

 
4. Nepal Restaurant GJ, LLC dba Nepal Restaurant, 356 Main Street, Grand 

Junction, CO 81501, Hotel and Restaurant with Outdoor Dining Lease 
 
  No one was present representing the applicant. 
 

The application for renewal for Nepal Restaurant GJ, LLC dba Nepal 
Restaurant was found to be in order and approved. 
 

5. Loyal Order of Moose Grand Junction #270 dba Loyal Order of Moose Grand 
Junction Lodge 270, 567 25 ½ Road, Grand Junction, CO 81505, Club 

 
 No one was present representing the applicant. 
 
 The application for renewal for Loyal Order of Moose Grand Junction #270 dba 

Loyal Order of Moose Grand Junction Lodge 270 was found to be in order and 
approved. 

 
III. APPLICATION TO RENEW LIQUOR AND BEER LICENSE WITH LATE FILING  
 

1. SAL, Inc. dba Fiesta Guadalajara-GJ, 710 North Avenue, Grand Junction, CO 
81501, Hotel and Restaurant – Filed in the City Clerk’s Office 22 Days Late –  
Continued from April 3, 2013 

 
Alexandro Sanchez, registered manager for Fiesta Guadalajara-GJ, and 
Heather Nara, Environmental Health Specialist with Mesa County Health 
Department, were present. 
 
Ms. Kemp reported that the only outstanding issue for the renewal is non-
compliance with the Health Department. 
 
Ms. Nara advised that they have gone through a critical items inspection and an 
intervention process with the applicant.  A compliance agreement was 
established with a compliance date of April 17th; however they did have to 
extend the date to April 24th because they needed clarification from the State 
Health Department.  A follow-up will be conducted prior to the next Liquor and 
Beer Meeting.  She stated that the Health Department would be alright with a 
conditional approval for the renewal of the liquor license pending a follow-up 
inspection. 
 
City Attorney Shaver asked Ms. Nara if she could provide a copy of the 
compliance agreement for the Authority.  Ms. Nara said she would as well as a 
letter stating that the compliance date was extended to April 24th. 
 
Mr. Sanchez stated that they are having to change their processes that used to 
be acceptable but are no longer acceptable due to new Health Department 
Regulations.  Ms. Nara agreed with Mr. Sanchez. 



There was no one present in opposition of the renewal of the liquor license. 
 
Hearing Officer Grattan continued the renewal for SAL, Inc. dba Fiesta 
Guadalajara-GJ unit the May 15, 2013 Liquor and Beer Meeting and advised 
Mr. Sanchez and Ms. Nara that if the City Clerk’s office receives a letter from 
the Health Department stating that the applicant is now in compliance, 
representation for the applicant would not be necessary. 

 
IV. APPLICATION FOR A MODIFICATION OF PREMISES 
 
 1. Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority dba Grand Junction Regional  

Airport Authority, 2828 Walker Field Dr., Suite 301, Grand Junction, CO 81506, 
Hotel and Restaurant – Continued from April 3, 2013 
 
Expand into a larger portion of their already secured terminal building known as 
the lower boarding area 

 
Amy Jordan, Deputy Director of Administration who oversees the Subway 
Restaurant at the airport, was present. 
 
Ms. Kemp advised that the application was amended to reduce the area 
originally requested to be added to the licensed area.  She read into the record 
the results of an internal survey the applicant provided to address the needs 
and desires of the neighborhood and the desires of the adult inhabitants (see 
attached). 
 
Hearing Officer Grattan asked for clarification on the survey forms that were 
circulated.  Some of the forms showed the much larger area requested and 
some showed the reduced area as amended.  Ms. Jordan stated that when they 
originally started the survey, they hadn’t reduced the area they were requesting 
added as licensed premises, however, after meeting with City Attorney Shaver, 
they decided to amend the request for a smaller area for the licensed premises, 
and changed the survey and the application for modification to reflect only the 
lower secured boarding area. 
 
City Attorney Shaver asked Ms. Jordan if she heard the results Ms. Kemp read 
into record and if she believed it to be a true and accurate representation.  Ms. 
Jordan replied affirmatively.  City Attorney Shaver asked Ms. Jordan if she has 
personal knowledge of the survey and if so, how did she gain that knowledge.  
Ms. Jordan said yes, she is the one who put together the survey.  She copied 
the form and distributed copies for people to fill out within the restaurant, at 
various points in the terminal building, at the information desk, and the gift shop.  
At all times, the forms were attended by staff who knew about the request for 
modification.   
 
City Attorney Shaver asked Ms. Jordan to describe for the Authority the nature 
of the existing license at the airport.  Ms. Jordan explained that the Airport holds 
a hotel and restaurant liquor license; they sell beer, wine, and small individual 
servings of spirituous liquors.  They do have a remote wine tasting room which 



license is held by Two Rivers Winery.  City Attorney Shaver asked Ms. Jordan if 
the proposed modification modifies the wine tasting area.  Ms. Jordan said no.  
 
City Attorney Shaver asked Ms. Jordan to describe for the Authority how the 
alcohol service will be contained within the proposed modified area.  Ms. Jordan 
said they will place additional signage at all of the exit points within the lower 
boarding area.  The connecting point between the lower and upper boarding 
area does have a line of sight to the restaurant so the staff at the restaurant can 
watch to make sure no one passes that point with an alcohol beverage.  Staff 
will also advise consumers not to leave the defined area.  City Attorney Shaver 
asked Ms. Jordan if all of the staff has been trained in service of alcohol.  Ms. 
Jordan said they all have, at the City’s alcohol server responsibility training. 
 
Hearing Officer Grattan noted that there was no one present in opposition and 
said that, due to the unique nature of the premises, a neighborhood survey was 
irrelevant and therefore he accepted the survey format.  He believed that the 
survey results overwhelmingly prove the need and desire for the modification of 
premises. 
 
The application for modification of premises for Grand Junction Regional Airport 
Authority dba Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority was found to be in 
order and approved.  Hearing Officer Grattan thanked Ms. Jordan for working 
with the Authority and providing a proposal that could work. 

  
V. APPLICATION TO REGISTER A NEW MANAGER 
 

1. Apple Colorado, LLC, dba Applebee's Neighborhood Grill & Bar, 711 Horizon 
Drive, Grand Junction, CO 81506, Hotel and Restaurant 

 
 Joshua Santa Cruz Montoya, 638 Mt. Julian Drive, Grand Junction, CO 81504 

replaces Paula Martin 
 

Ms. Kemp advised that a report was still pending on CBI/FBI on the background 
of Mr. Montoya. 
 
The application to register a new manager for Apple Colorado, LLC, dba 
Applebee's Neighborhood Grill & Bar was found to be in order and approved 
subject to a satisfactory report from CBI/FBI. 

 
VI. APPLICATION FOR A CHANGE IN CORPORATE STRUCTURE AND 

REGISTRATION OF A NEW MANAGER 
 

1. Breckenridge Ale House GJ, LLC dba Breckenridge Ale House, 2531 N. 12th 
Street, Grand Junction, CO 81501, Hotel and Restaurant 

 
Managing Company:  Breckenridge-Wynkoop, LLC, 280 Columbine Street,  

   Suite 204, Denver, CO 80206 replaces Jeff Hansen 
 

Member:  Jodie Beth Squirrell, 244 N. 7th Street, Grand Junction, CO 81501, no  
      change 



 Member:  Tracey R. Hansen, 329 Cliff Drive, Grand Junction, CO 81507, no  
      change 

 
 Registered Manager:  Robert L. Bradley, 2836 B Road, Grand Junction, CO  

   81502, replaces Brian Oliver 
 
  Robert Bradley, general manager for Breckenridge Ale House, was present. 
 

Ms. Kemp advised that a report was still pending on CBI/FBI on the background 
of Mr. Bradley. 
 
The application for Change in Corporate Structure and Registration of a New 
Manager for Breckenridge Ale House GJ, LLC dba Breckenridge Ale House 
was found to be in order and approved subject to a satisfactory report from 
CBI/FBI. 

 
2. Trust Trifecta Enterprises, LLC dba Naggy McGee’s Irish Pub, 359 Colorado 

Avenue #103, Grand Junction, CO 81501, Hotel and Restaurant 
 
 Managing Member:  H. Jack Hayes, 559 Cicero Drive, Palisade, CO 81506,  

 replaces Eric Wilmot 
 
 Remove Member Vanessa Funches 
 
 Registered Manager:  Brian L. Oliver, 2214 Victorian Court, Grand Junction, CO  

    81507  
 
  No one was present representing the applicant. 
 

Hearing Officer Grattan disclosed that he was in a contentious piece of litigation 
with Mr. Hayes as the opposing party.  It had nothing to do at all with Naggy 
McGee’s Irish Pub and he believes he can rule on this without conflict.  City 
Attorney Shaver said that, for the City’s perspective, there is no problem, and 
because this is effectively non-substantive, he saw no issues. 
 
The application for Change in Corporate Structure and Registration of a New 
Manager for Trust Trifecta Enterprises, LLC dba Naggy McGee’s Irish Pub was 
found to be in order and approved subject to a satisfactory report from CBI/FBI. 

 
VII. APPLICATION FOR SPECIAL EVENTS PERMIT 
 
 1. La Mexicana Ballet Foklorico, 3282 Columba Drive, Clifton, CO 81520 –  

 Solo’s Cinco Hoppin’ Fiesta and Car Show 2013 on May 4, 2013 from 11:00 
a.m. to 10:30 p.m., Lincoln Park, 1340 Gunnison Avenue, Grand Junction, CO 
81501, Malt and Vinous  

 
 President of Org.: Angie Chavez, 3282 Columba Drive, Clifton, CO 81520 

  Event Manager: Jason Manzanares, 3010 C Road, Grand Junction, CO  
     81503 

 



Angie Chavez, President of La Mexicana Ballet Foklorico and Jason 
Manzanares, Event Manager for Solo’s Cinco Hoppin’ Fiesta and Car Show 
2013, were present. 
 
City Attorney Shaver handed Ms. Chavez and Mr. Manzanares two documents 
and asked them to describe for the Authority what the document marked as 
Exhibit A was and asked them to describe the nature of the event.  Mr. 
Manzanares explained that the document is a Questionnaire and Affidavit and 
the event is a Spanish cultural event where they hold a car show.  They have 
vendors, they sell beer, and they hire bands to come in.  City Attorney Shaver 
said the affidavit indicates that this is the eighth year for the event and asked if 
they have ever had any problems with the event.  Mr. Manzanares said that 
they have not had any problems with past events.  City Attorney Shaver asked 
if the information contained on the affidavit is true, accurate, and correct.  Mr. 
Manzanares said it is.  City Attorney Shaver called Ms. Chavez’s and Mr. 
Manzanares’s attention to the document marked Exhibit B and asked them to 
describe it to the Authority.  Mr. Manzanares said that it shows where the event 
will be held and the two areas in red show where the alcohol will be consumed.  
The first area is in the center of what used to be the Loop area of Lincoln Park.  
Hearing Officer Grattan asked if the construction work in that area is complete.  
Mr. Manzanares said it is.  City Attorney Shaver asked how the areas for 
alcohol consumption will be controlled.  Mr. Manzanares said that they will be 
fenced in and security will be present.  City Attorney Shaver asked Mr. 
Manzanares to describe the nature of the security.  Mr. Manzanares said the 
security is hired through CSI Security Professionals out of Rifle, CO for both 
areas.  City Attorney Shaver asked if the event will be in the barn.  Mr. 
Manzanares said there will be a dance in the barn, but the alcohol will be 
served outside of the barn with no consumption inside the barn.   
 
Hearing Officer Grattan admitted Exhibits A and B into the record and found 
that under Colorado State Statutes 12-48-106, there is no evidence that the 
issuance of the event would be injurious to the public welfare because of the 
nature of the special event, its location within the community (which he noted 
that the area is frequently used for special events) or the failure of the applicant 
in a past special event to conduct the event in compliance with applicable laws.  
He found that the application for a special events permit submitted by La 
Mexicana Ballet Foklorico was in order and approved. 
 

2. Latin Anglo Alliance Foundation, Inc., P.O. Box 1734, Grand Junction, CO  
 81502 – Cinco de Mayo, May 4, 2013 from 10:00 a.m. to 11:00 p.m. on Main 

Street between 5th and 7th Streets, Grand Junction, Malt and Vinous 
 
 President of Org.: Jerry Martinez, 231 Palo Verde Court, Fruita, CO 81521 

  Event Manager: Mike Archuleta, 667 Cordial Ct., Grand Junction, CO 81501 
 

Jerry Martinez, President of Latin Anglo Alliance Foundation, Inc. and Mike 
Archuleta, Vice President of Latin Anglo Alliance Foundation, Inc.  and Event 
Manager for Cinco de Mayo, were present. 
 
 



Ms. Kemp noted that the only item pending for the application to be in order is a 
Certificate of Insurance for the event. 
 
City Attorney Shaver handed Ms. Martinez and Mr. Archuleta two documents 
and asked them if the document marked as Exhibit A was a true, accurate, and 
faithful representation of the nature of the event.  Mr. Archuleta said yes.  City 
Attorney Shaver asked how he came to have that knowledge.  Mr. Archuleta 
said that Mr. Madril, who completed the affidavit, gave him a copy and it is 
basically the same as they provide each year.  City Attorney Shaver said the 
affidavit indicates that the event has been continuous for 32 years and that this 
will be the 33rd year and asked if they have ever had any problems with the 
event.  Mr. Archuleta said that he does not recollect ever having any problems 
even though they have changed location several times.  City Attorney Shaver 
called Mr. Martinez’s and Mr. Archuleta’s attention to the document marked 
Exhibit B and asked them to describe for the Authority where the event will be 
held and where the alcohol service area will be established and maintained.  
Mr. Archuleta said that it will be on Main Street between 5th Street and 7th 
Street.  They will have uniformed professional security hired for the day.  They 
will have metal and orange barricade fencing all around defining the event 
which will also contain the alcohol.  City Attorney Shaver asked how the 
foundation deals with not serving alcohol to under age or prevent over service 
of alcohol.  Mr. Archuleta said that people are carded to make sure they are 21 
years of age or older and they place a wrist band on them which signifies that 
their identification has been checked.  City Attorney Shaver asked if the bands 
are tamper resistant.  Mr. Archuleta said they are as they will tear when taken 
off.    
 
There was no one present in opposition to the application. 
 
Hearing Officer Grattan admitted Exhibits A and B into the record and found 
that under Colorado State Statutes 12-48-106, there is no evidence that the 
issuance of the event would be injurious to the public welfare because of the 
nature of the special event, its location within the community (which he noted 
that the area is regularly used for special events) or the failure of the applicant 
in a past special event to conduct the event in compliance with applicable laws.  
He found that the application for a special events permit submitted by Latin 
Anglo Alliance Foundation, Inc. was in order and approved subject to obtaining 
a Certificate of Insurance in accordance with the requirements as set forth by 
the Authority. 

 
3. Colorado Mesa University Foundation, 1100 North Avenue, Grand Junction,  

CO 81501 – Alumni Beer Garden for Macklemore Concert on April 20, 2013 
from 6:00 p.m. to 11:00 p.m., the open terrace on top of the Academic 
Classroom Building (ACB) Building, 1100 North Avenue, Grand Junction, CO 
81501– Continued from April 3, 2013 
 
Pres./Sec’y. of Org.: Peggy Lamm, 507 Dove Court, Grand Junction, CO 81507 
Event Manager: Rick Adleman, 3021 Oakwood Drive, Grand Jct., CO 81504 
 



Rick Adleman, Event Manager for the Alumni Beer Garden for Macklemore 
Concert, was present. 
 
City Attorney Shaver handed Mr. Adleman two documents and asked him if he 
had personal knowledge of the document marked as Exhibit A.  Mr. Adleman 
said he did as he worked with and instructed the event coordinator how to 
complete it.  City Attorney Shaver asked Mr. Adleman whose signature is on the 
document.  Mr. Adleman said it is his signature.  City Attorney Shaver said that 
according to the affidavit, the event has not previously been held and asked if 
that was correct.  Mr. Adleman said that was correct.  City Attorney Shaver 
asked if the Foundation has experience with similar events.  Mr. Adleman said 
that they do, it will be similar to beer gardens that they have had in the past.  
City Attorney Shaver asked if they have had any problems with under age 
service or over service of alcohol in the past events.  Mr. Adleman said they 
have not.  City Attorney Shaver asked Mr. Adleman to describe the facility and 
how access will be controlled through the facility.  Mr. Adleman stated that the 
event will be at the Academic Classroom Building next to the quad where the 
concert will be held.  The building will be locked down except for one entrance 
which will be controlled.  The terrace is on the third floor and the access will be 
limited to one area.  City Attorney Shaver called Mr. Adleman’s attention to the 
document marked Exhibit B and asked if the area outlined with red dots is the 
service area.  Mr. Adleman said it is.  City Attorney Shaver asked Mr. Adleman 
to describe the area and the ingress/egress.  Mr. Adleman said that it is the 
terrace on the third floor of the Academic Classroom Building which overlooks 
the Quad where the concert will be held.  There will be a uniformed security 
personnel stationed at the external stairway of the terrace to prevent access 
and egress as well as a uniformed security personnel at the other end of the 
terrace.  The event is particularly aimed at Alumni.  No one under 21 years of 
age will be allowed at the beer garden on the terrace.  City Attorney Shaver 
asked if the University gave permission to use the facility for the event.  Mr. 
Adleman said yes, they did.      
 
Hearing Officer Grattan asked where the concert will be.  Mr. Adleman said the 
actual concert will be down on the lawn.  Everyone will be required to have a 
ticket to get into the concert as well as to the beer garden on the terrace. 
 
There was no one present in opposition to the application. 
 
Hearing Officer Grattan admitted Exhibits A and B into the record and found 
that under Colorado State Statutes 12-48-106, there is no evidence that the 
issuance of the event would be injurious to the public welfare because of the 
nature of the special event, its location within the community (the nature of the 
premises will allow more control than most events) or the failure of the applicant 
in a past special event to conduct the event in compliance with applicable laws.  
He found that the application for a special events permit submitted by Colorado 
Mesa University Foundation was in order and approved. 
 



VIII. APPLICATION FOR NEW LICENSE – RESOLUTION AND FINDINGS AND 
 DECISION 
  
 1. Rosco’s, Inc. dba Edgewater Brewery, 905 Struthers Avenue, Grand Junction,  
  CO 81501, Brew Pub 
 

  President:  James P. Jeffryes, 2683 Del Mar Drive, Grand Junction, CO 81506 
Vice Pres.:  Eric P. Ross, 627 ½ Shannon Lane, Grand Junction, CO 81504 
Sec./Treas.:  Bernadette Jeffryes, 2683 Del Mar Drive, Grand Junction, CO 81506 
Shareholder:  Anna V. Adair, 139 Perkins Street, Oakland, CA 94610 
Shareholder:  Ross Adair, 139 Perkins Street, Oakland, CA 94610 

 
  James P. Jeffryes, President of Rosco’s, Inc., was present. 
 

 Ms. Kemp reported that the building is still under construction, therefore the Fire 
Department will sign off for the issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy, the 
Health Department will conduct an opening inspection and advise the City 
Clerk’s Office, and reports from CBI/FBI on the owners are pending.  Ms. Kemp 
read the results of the survey that was conducted into the record (see 
attached).  

 
 City Attorney Shaver asked Mr. Jeffryes if he believes what Ms. Kemp read into 

the record to be true and accurate.  Mr. Jeffryes said yes.  City Attorney Shaver 
asked how he came to that opinion.  Mr. Jeffryes stated that two of their newest 
employees, his son and his fiancée, conducted the survey over a four day 
period.  City Attorney Shaver asked Mr. Jeffryes if he directed them on how to 
conduct the survey.  Mr. Jeffryes said that they gave them an idea on how to 
explain what was going on and that they shouldn’t coach people to sign yes or 
no.  City Attorney Shaver asked Mr. Jeffryes if there was an attempt to contact 
any of the 172 contacts listed as no answers.  Mr. Jeffryes said that over the 
course of the four days, they contacted each area twice.  City Attorney Shaver 
asked when the survey was conducted.  Mr. Jeffryes said that it was conducted 
during the week and on a Saturday.  City Attorney Shaver asked Mr. Jeffryes to 
describe what the mix of the surveyed neighborhood was.  Mr. Jeffryes said 
industrial, heavy and light commercial, and residential.  He said that the river 
ran through the middle of the survey area.  City Attorney Shaver asked if the 50 
businesses contacted were a comprehensive sampling of businesses in the 
area.  Mr. Jeffryes said yes, most of them.   

 
 Hearing Officer Grattan asked Mr. Jeffryes when they plan on opening.  Mr. 

Jeffryes said they are planning on opening the second week of May. 
 
 Hearing Officer Grattan said that he feels the location is a desirable location for 

their business to be in and he noted that there is no opposition to the 
application present.  He stated that it would have been nice to have direct 
testimony relating to the survey but because of Mr. Jeffryes knowledge of the 
survey, he will accept the results. 

 
 Hearing Officer Grattan found that the application for a new brew pub liquor 

license submitted by Rosco’s, Inc. dba Edgewater Brewery was in order and 



approved subject to satisfactory report from the Health Department and 
satisfactory reports from CBI/FBI and issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy as 
required by the City.  The City Clerk’s office will prepare a resolution for Hearing 
Officer Grattan’s signature. 

 
IX. OTHER BUSINESS 
 
 There was none. 

 
X. ADJOURNMENT 
   
 The meeting was adjourned at 3:03 p.m. 
 
 
NEXT REGULAR MEETING – May 1, 2013 















































 



 


